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DEATH OF A DISSIDENT





AUTHOR’S NOTE



This is a very personal story of one man’s life and death, but it is also the story of historic events and the deeds and misdeeds of world leaders.


I have written the personal story with the benefit of firsthand knowledge. I have written the history with confidence that it conveys Sasha Litvinenko’s beliefs and conclusions, and my own. I do not propose that I am a neutral observer. I do maintain that I am an honest one and one who, with Marina’s assistance, can best speak for Sasha.


All quotations from conversations are based on my own recollections or on the recollections of direct participants in those conversations. Others may remember the conversations differently, and others have put forward different accounts of the historic events recounted here. The ultimate truth may be determined by history. My truth, and Sasha’s, is here for the reader.





PART I THE MAKING OF A DISSIDENT












CHAPTER 1 ASYLUM



New York. October 25, 2000


My cell phone rang before dawn.


“Salut,” a voice said. “Where are you?” It was Boris Berezovsky, who until a few months earlier had been one of Russia’s richest and most powerful oligarchs. Now he was an expatriate. He was calling from his house in Cap d’Antibes in the south of France. He had fallen out with Russia’s new president, Vladimir Putin—whom Boris himself had groomed for the job—and announced that he would not return to Russia from a vacation in France. Putin was busily purging Berezovsky’s people, who were ubiquitous, from Russia’s power structure. Boris was mindful of wiretapping, so he could not begin the conversation until I assured him I was not in Russia.


“Do you remember Sasha Litvinenko?” Boris asked.


I did. A member of the organized crime division of the Federal Security Bureau (FSB), the KGB’s successor agency, Lt. Col. Alexander (Sasha) Litvinenko was one of Boris’s men. Two years earlier, he had become a national celebrity after calling a press conference where, flanked by four masked officers who supported his allegations, he claimed that some rogue generals in the FSB had plotted to assassinate Berezovsky. This happened shortly after Boris Yeltsin replaced the previous FSB director, a seasoned three-star general, with Putin, who was then a low-level ex-spy and a dark horse from the Kremlin administration.


Going against Kontora (the Company) on prime-time TV did not sit well with the folks at Lubyanka HQ. Shortly afterward, Litvinenko was arrested on a charge concocted by Internal Affairs that he had beaten up a suspect some years earlier. He spent several months in Lefortovo, the infamous investigative prison of the old KGB. I had asked Boris to introduce me to Sasha at the time, because I was running a public health project under George Soros to contain an epidemic of TB in Russian prisons. I wanted to quiz Sasha about the medical services in Lefortovo. I had gained access to the regular prisons of the Justice Ministry, but Lefortovo, an FSB domain, was off-limits. Any occasion to meet a former inmate was a chance to begin to assess the state of that secret place.


“Yes, I remember Litvinenko,” I said.


“Well, he’s in Turkey,” said Boris.


“You call at 5 a.m. to tell me that?”


“He’s fled.”


Sasha was hiding in a hotel on the Mediterranean coast with his wife and son, preparing to hand himself over to the Americans. Could I be of help, Boris inquired, as “an old dissident, and an American to boot? We believe you’re the only one who can help him.”


“Why is that?”


“Because you have the right connections.”
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A few hours after Boris’s call, and after I had spoken by phone with Sasha himself, I walked into the Old Executive Office Building in Washington, D.C., for a meeting with an old friend, a Russian specialist who worked on President Clinton’s National Security Council.


A relaxed policeman briefly glanced at my ID. It was still almost a year before September 11. The U.S. presidential elections were just two weeks away and nobody in Washington cared all that much about Russia. I made it into the building in a few short seconds.


“I can give you ten minutes,” my friend said. “So what’s the urgent matter you can’t discuss over the phone?”


I told him about Litvinenko and that I was planning to go to Turkey and bring him over to our embassy.


“As an official of the U.S. government, I have to tell you that we are not in the business of luring Russian agents into defections,” he replied. “As your friend, I’ll tell you: don’t get involved. Such matters are for professionals, which you are not. There’ll be unforeseen circumstances, trust me. It can become dangerous. Once you get into this, you will not be in control. One thing will lead to another, and there’s no telling where you’ll end up. So my advice to you: Go home and forget the whole thing.”


“And what will happen to Litvinenko?” I asked, remembering Sasha’s anxious voice on the phone.


“That’s not your problem,” he replied. “He’s a big boy and he knew what he was doing.”


“What would happen if he walked into our embassy on his own?”


“First of all, they won’t let him in. They have serious security issues there. Ankara isn’t Copenhagen. By the way, what kind of documents does he have?”


“I don’t know.”


“Second, even if he does get in, he’ll be talking to consular officials whose job”—he smiled—“is to keep people out of America.”


“But he’s not an ordinary applicant for a tourist visa.”


“Well, if he can prove that, then maybe”—he hesitated, picking the right word—“other people will talk to him. In theory, they could put in a word for him, but that would depend …”


“On what he can offer them?”


“You got it.”


“I have no idea what he could offer them.”


“There, you see, I told you: you’re no professional.” My friend smiled at me as I got up to leave.
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I had already decided not to take his advice. I had once been a dissident, a Jewish biologist in Moscow who agitated against the Soviet regime. I had gotten out in 1975. My father, also a scientist, was a well-known refusenik who could not get permission to leave for another decade after me. Helping people escape the clutches of Moscow was in my blood. I was soon on a plane to Turkey.


[image: image]


If you didn’t know better, the Litvinenko family, staying in a small seaside hotel, looked like Russian tourists, typical of those who crowded the south coast of Turkey. The fit paterfamilias took his morning run on the beach, his pretty wife sported a week-old tan, and their mischievous six-year-old boy raised no suspicions among the locals, for whom tourists from the north are the main fuel of the economy.


But a closer inspection revealed the strain affecting the fugitives. It was in the way Sasha peered at every new person around, in Marina’s tear-puffed eyes, and in little Tolik’s need for constant attention from his parents.


Turkey is one of the few places where visitors from Russia can enter without a visa, or rather, by buying one for $30 at the border. Marina and Tolik had entered on ordinary Russian passports from Spain, where they had gone on a tour. Sasha’s documents were false; he showed me a passport from one of the ex-Soviet republics, with his photograph but a different name.


“How did you get it?”


“Have you forgotten where I used to work? A hundred friends are worth more than a hundred rubles, as they say.”


“But how do we prove that you’re you?”


He showed me his driver’s license and his FSB veteran card as Lieutenant Colonel Litvinenko.


“Tell me, have your watchers in Moscow discovered that you’re gone?”


“Yes, they’ve been looking for me for the past week.”


“How do you know?”


“We called my mother-in-law.”


“If you called from here, then they know you’re in Turkey.”


“I used this,” he said, showing me a Spanish calling card. “You go through an access number in Spain so the call can’t be traced. They are thinking that we are in Spain.”


“You shouldn’t have called. I would not be surprised if they have already reported you to the Interpol for robbing a bank.”


“Listen, I had to let our parents know we’re all right. They didn’t know we were leaving.” Sasha’s light gray eyes momentarily flashed with defiance. “Damn the bastards, they’re chasing us like rabbits!”


Marina and I exchanged glances. This was his first emotional outburst over several hours of conversation, but I could see that staying calm was an effort for him.


The next day we rented a car and drove north to Ankara. We sped along the empty highway through a cloudless night in a rocky desert, and Sasha told me stories about the FSB to keep me awake at the wheel.


In Ankara’s Sheraton hotel, we were met by Joseph, a small, punctilious American lawyer, a specialist on refugee matters whom I had contacted before leaving for Turkey. Boris Berezovsky was footing the bill, so Joseph kindly agreed to fly in for a few hours from Eastern Europe, where he was on business.


Joseph explained that to claim asylum Sasha should have entered the United States first. Outside America, he could apply only for a refugee visa, and there was an annual quota. He would have to wait for months, maybe years.


“In their day, Soviet refugees were allowed into America easily,” I said.


“Well, that was the cold war,” Joseph explained. “In theory, there is an expedient form of entry, which we call ‘parole for reasons of public interest.’ You need a top-level decision for that.


“In any case, I recommend that your friends apply formally for admission as refugees, so that the documents are in the system, and then have them wait in Turkey while you go to Washington and try to pull some strings.”


“Joseph, after all, Sasha is a KGB officer and not some ordinary refugee.”


“I can tell you a secret,” the lawyer said. “The CIA keeps a stash of clean green cards. All they have to do is fill in the name. If they need the person, he ends up in Washington in a few hours, bypassing all the immigration procedures. But that’s a deal you have to make. You give them goods, they give you protection. You have to decide: either you’re fleeing from tyranny, or you’re dealing in secrets. It’s hard to combine the two.”


I translated for Sasha.


“I have to review my portfolio,” he said sarcastically.


Joseph gave Sasha one final warning before saying good-bye. “In any case, if it comes to horse trading, be firm: your visa comes first, then you give them whatever they want.”
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In the late afternoon of October 30, as the holder of an American passport, I led the Litvinenkos to the citizens’ entrance of the American Embassy in Ankara, past the line of less fortunate humans stretching along the embassy fence under the supervision of two police cars.


I had given the embassy several hours’ advance notice, so they were expecting us. A young man said, “Welcome to the United States Embassy. I am the consul. Please let me have your documents, Mr. Litvinenko.” A marine took away our mobile phones and handed us guest passes on metal chains.


We were led through an empty courtyard. Our host entered a combination into the digital lock, the metal door screeched open, and yet another marine led us into a strange room without windows. In the middle was a table with chairs, with a ceiling fan rotating overhead. A video camera stared at us from the wall, with a monitor underneath. Sasha and I exchanged glances. This was “the bubble,” the type of soundproof room that appears in countless spy novels. As soon as we sat down, the door opened and another American, around forty and wearing dark glasses, came in.


“This is Mark, my colleague from the political section,” the consul said.


Just as my Washington friend had told me, I thought. People from the consulate and “other people.”


“Well, Mr. Litvinenko,” the consul said. “How can we help you?”


The rest followed our lawyer’s scenario. Sasha told them his story and asked for asylum for himself and his family, and the consul replied that he understood their situation and he sympathized, but embassies don’t grant asylum. As for a refugee visa, that process takes time, please fill out the form, we’ll try to speed it up, but the decisions are made in Washington.


I said that I would try to get advanced parole for them in Washington.


“That makes sense,” agreed the consul.


Despite the fan, it was hot in the bubble, and we were thirsty. Tolik grew quiet, sensing that something very important was happening. Fat tears rolled down Marina’s cheeks.


“In view of Mr. Litvinenko’s special circumstances,” I said, “there are reasons to fear for their safety. Could they be settled in some secure place, perhaps where embassy personnel live, while their case is being considered?”


“Unfortunately, we cannot do that.”


“Which hotel are you staying in?” Mark spoke for the first time.


“The Sheraton.”


“I think you’re exaggerating the danger. The Sheraton is an American site, and we are in a Muslim country. There is a threat of terrorism, so they have decent security at the Sheraton. I’d like to have a few words with Mr. Litvinenko alone.” And before I could even ask the question, he added, “We won’t need a translator.”


Sasha nodded, and we left. The consul led us to the gate, returned our passports, and wished us luck. I took Marina and Tolik to the hotel. We walked in silence past the handrails for visa seekers; by now the lines were empty. The street was still blocked off. There was no traffic, and the air was still. I glanced at high-rise buildings visible over the tops of the trees. Behind one of those windows Russian agents must be lurking, aiming their binoculars, taking pictures of us. I hoped the Americans would at least have the sense to escort Sasha back to the hotel.
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Mark called nearly four hours later, when it was already dark: “You may come and pick up your friend.”


The hotel was within walking distance of the embassy, but Sasha wasn’t ready to face his family yet. “Let us drive around a while,” he said, climbing into a yellow Zhiguli cab. “I need some time to pull myself together.”


“What took so long?” I could not wait to hear what happened.


“It took them a while to crack me,” said Sasha.


“What do you mean, ‘crack’?”


“Well, make me talk. There was a secure hookup with Washington. And the guy on the other side—by the way, he looked as if he was your twin brother—was quite a character. Spoke Russian without an accent. And he had a whole team standing by. First, he was checking me out. He’d ask a question and then wait for his friends to run and match it with what they had. And after they figured out what I could know, for three hours he tried to pull just one name out of me. Like ‘You know, I really want to help you, but you have to give me something to show for you. I can’t go upstairs empty-handed.’ That’s the usual technique.”


“What did you do?”


“Well, I finally gave them something. I sat there and sat, and then I thought, what the hell. I have nothing to lose. He really jumped when I told him my tidbit—it was one name. ‘Right, right, that’s just what I need. Thank you very much. Write the name on a piece of paper, would you please?’”


“Have they promised you anything at all?”


“No, nothing. Go to the hotel and wait. Well, now whatever happens, let it happen.” His indifference was a poor disguise for his tension. I tried to imagine how I’d feel in his place, at the mercy of my look-alike on the screen, with so much at stake and not knowing what to do. Tell all or keep my mouth shut? And what was the name that he gave them?
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Our dinner that night was a pathetic sight. Tolik was cranky, Sasha was silent, mulling something over, and Marina and I tried to keep up the conversation. Sooner or later I had to go home. In fact, my return flight to New York was booked for the next morning, but I did not dare tell this to them.


Suddenly Sasha said, “They’re here already. See the guy with a newspaper at the bar? He was in the lobby on our floor and then came down here. Let’s check it out.”


He left the table and went to the men’s room. The man turned so that he could see the men’s room door. Sasha came out and went to the lobby. The man shifted again, to keep an eye on him.


“Idiots. If I worked like that, I’d have been fired a long time ago,” Sasha said, handing me the free English-language paper he had picked up in the lobby. “What’s the news?”


I glanced at the front page of the Turkish Times. “Rounding Up Russians” was the headline. The article reported that there were two hundred thousand illegal Russians in Turkey who were involved with prostitution and transporting asylum seekers into Europe, and the authorities were rounding them up and deporting them to Russia. Not exactly the kind of story Sasha needed to hear. “You think he’s alone?” I asked, changing the subject back to our tail.


“Yes, he is, otherwise he wouldn’t have run after me from floor to floor. You don’t need more than one—where would we go from the hotel at night? They probably caught up with us at the embassy. We have to get out of here.”


We looked at each other and said at the same time, “Good thing we didn’t return the car.”


“Marina, take Alex’s room key, unobtrusively,” Sasha said. “Go upstairs, get packed, move everything up to Alex’s room and wait for him. If that guy is alone he will stick with me.”


Marina yawned, said, “See you tomorrow, boys,” and dragged sleepy Tolik to the elevator. Half an hour later, Sasha and I got up. The man at the bar stayed put.


Our rooms were on different floors, theirs on the seventh, mine on the eighth. As the elevator stopped, our eyes met, and I sensed the panic in him: the distance to his door he would have to walk alone—an ideal target. He stepped out.


When I entered my room, Marina was watching TV. Tolik, dressed in his street clothes, was asleep on my bed.


It took us two trips to the underground garage and a quarter hour to get all the baggage, along with the sleepy Tolik, into the car. Finally, I called Sasha’s room: “We are ready. Go.”


Three minutes later, he jumped into the car, and we shot out of the hotel. It was 1:30 a.m. I kept peeking in the rearview mirror for pursuers, but Sasha told me not to bother: it’s impossible to know if you are being followed in city traffic. Once we were out on the highway, we would see.


“If I only knew which way to go,” I said. We didn’t have a map of Ankara.


There were several yellow taxis at the corner. A group of cabbies stood around, discussing something heatedly. I pulled up.


“Which way to Istanbul?” I asked in English. “Istanbul, Istanbul!”


A long explanation in Turkish followed. I gestured to a driver that I would follow him until he got us on the road. A half hour later we were headed in the right direction.


“Stop the car,” Sasha said after a sharp turn. “Wait ten minutes.” No one followed, and we went on in silence.


“I won’t go alive,” Sasha suddenly said. “If the Turks turn me in, I’ll kill myself.”


I looked in the rearview mirror. Marina and Tolik were asleep.


A few minutes later he said, “I’ll go turn myself in to the Russians. Plead guilty, do my time. That’s still better than rotting in Turkey.”


“Don’t be stupid,” Marina said without opening her eyes.


“So, what’s your plan?” Sasha asked me.


“Get to Istanbul, check into a hotel, and get some sleep—it’s the fourth night I have not slept well,” I said. “And then think about a plan.”


“Want me to drive?”


“No, I don’t. If we’re stopped, you have one name on your driver’s license and another on your passport. We’ll be sunk right away.”


Night driving loosens lips. Especially if you’ve just burned your bridges, your wife and kid are asleep in the backseat, and your listener is the only friendly soul in the unknown new world. Within three hours I knew Sasha’s whole story, except, perhaps, for the secret that had created such a furor at the CIA.
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A heavy fog descended at daybreak. Judging from the odometer, we should have been approaching Istanbul, but all that lay ahead was a thick, milky wall. What if the cab driver had played a trick on us, sending us in the wrong direction? We were running out of gas. I drove on, thinking that my Washington pal had been right: I was heading into the mist toward the unforeseen. Who knows where we would be an hour from now if we ran out of gas on the empty highway and the police pulled up and checked our papers.


Suddenly, out of the fog, came a green sign: Kemal Ataturk Airport—Istanbul. Another fifty yards farther lay the long-wished-for gas station.


Using our new navigational method, we hired a cab to lead us to the Hilton Istanbul. Making full use of Berezovsky’s expense account, we took a king’s suite, with a view of the Bosporus. We crawled to our beds, leaving a Do Not Disturb sign on the door.
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I woke up at 4 p.m. and turned on my mobile—it had been off ever since we left Ankara because I was afraid that we could be tracked somehow. A dozen new messages registered on the screen. Mark from the U.S. Embassy had called every half hour, and with every message his voice sounded more anxious: Where were we? Why did we disappear? He had important news for us.


“Sorry, Mark, we were catching some sleep,” I said.


“Thank God,” he said. “You were not in the hotel and we were worried. Good news, pal: we’re taking them. Twenty minutes, we’ll pick them up.”


“The problem is we are in Istanbul.”


“Istanbul? Why in the world did you go there?”


“Someone was watching at the hotel, so we ran.”


“I see. Well, that’s a complication. Is anyone watching you now?”


“I don’t think so.”


“Okay, keep your phone on. I’ll get back to you.”


When he called again his voice sounded different: “Bad news, pal, they’ve changed their mind. We are not taking them.”


“What do you mean ‘changed their mind’?” I did not grasp the full consequences at first. The dimensions of the catastrophe dawned on me only slowly, gradually burning a hole in the tranquil scene around me: a cozy hotel room, Sasha on the balcony observing the Bosporus, Tolik watching cartoons on TV, Marina unpacking. What would I do with them now?


“Don’t you get it? They changed their mind at HQ,” Mark repeated in a subdued voice. “You’re on your own, we cannot help you.”


“Is it because we went to Istanbul?” I said the first thing that came to mind, just to keep the line open.


“No, of course not. I can’t tell you why … I am really sorry. Good luck,” he said, and hung up.


That is why I could never work for the government. I could never communicate news like that. Being an avid reader of John le Carré, I harbored no illusions about the spy business, but this still took me by surprise. To drop a man after he’s given them what they needed! I had to tell them what I thought of them.


I dialed Mark’s number. A recording said something in Turkish, the only discernible words being “Türkish Telekom.” Probably the account didn’t exist anymore, now that the operation was aborted. There was no point in calling the embassy landline. Surely there was no Mark on the staff.


I went to the lobby and called Boris, away from Sasha’s and Marina’s hearing.


“Where the hell are you? I’ve been calling all day,” he asked.


“There are complications, I will tell you later. In short, we were at the embassy, but the Americans are not taking them.”


Boris never gives up. While we were driving through Turkey, he had already developed Plan B: a yacht had been chartered in Greece to pick us up and sail into neutral waters.


“And then what?” I asked. “Sail forever, like the Flying Dutchman? You can get lost in a big city, but you can’t hide on a yacht. Sooner or later they’ll have to come ashore and show their papers.”


“But this will at least give us some time to put our thoughts together.”


“I have a different plan,” I said, “but I can’t talk about it on the phone.”


Sasha needed to be inside a country in order to claim asylum. Yet he could not board a flight bound for any desirable country without a visa, which was impossible to obtain with his passport. My plan was to purchase tickets back to Moscow, with a plane change in a Western European airport. He could ask for asylum during his layover. Flight connections did not require a visa as long as you stayed within the transit zone at the airport. I went online to check plane schedules.


“Where do you want to go? France, Germany, or England?” I asked.


“I don’t care,” Sasha said, “just as long as we get out of here as soon as possible.”


“I don’t care, either,” said Tolik.


“I want to go to France,” said Marina.


“I think that England would be better,” I said. “At least I’ll be able to explain over there who the heck you are.”
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The next morning, an odd group appeared at the registration counter of Turkish Airlines: a bearded American who spoke Russian, with no baggage but with a passport nearly filled up with Russian entry stamps; a beautiful Russian woman with a nervous child and five suitcases; and an athletic man claiming to be a citizen of an insignificant nation, who was wearing sunglasses despite the cloudy weather. The glasses allowed him to professionally scan the airport crowds. I caught the eye of a Turkish policeman observing us. He must have decided that Sasha was my bodyguard.


We checked in for a flight to London, with a change at Heathrow to an Aeroflot flight to Moscow. The registration went smoothly, but the border guard at passport control took an inordinate interest in Sasha’s passport. The rest of us had passed through without incident, and we stood and watched while he turned Sasha’s passport around, examining it from all sides, and looking at it under ultraviolet light, for a good few minutes. At last he stamped it and waved him on. Made it, I thought.


We had only a few minutes left and we raced through the nearly empty airport to the gate.


“Is that it? That’s it?” Marina asked, glowing.


And then I saw them. Two Turks of a certain type were following us at a distance. It was impossible to miss them: they were the only ones moving at our speed, as if we were all one team.


“See them?” I asked.


Sasha nodded.


“They latched onto us at passport control.”


“Yes, I noticed.”


We ran up to the gate. The flight was closing; we were the last to board. Our escorts sat down at the gate and stared at us. A young woman in a Turkish Airlines uniform took our boarding cards and passports.


“You are all right,” she said to me. Turning to Sasha and Marina, she said, “But you don’t have a British visa.” She looked at them inquiringly.


“We have a direct connection to Moscow,” I said. “Here are the tickets.”


“And where are the London�Moscow boarding passes?”


“We have to change airlines, we’ll get them in London.”


“Strange,” she said. “Why are you going through London when there’s a direct Istanbul�Moscow flight in an hour?”


“We always go through London, to shop duty-free at Heathrow,” I said, pleased with my quick thinking.


“I need to get permission,” she said, and spoke in Turkish into her radio. “My colleague will take their documents to the office for the boss to take a look. Don’t worry, we’ll hold the plane.”


Sasha was as white as a sheet. One of our escorts followed the airline staffer. The other continued watching us, unperturbed. I took Tolik by the hand and went to buy him some candy at the nearest stand. Ten minutes or so went by. Two figures appeared at the end of the hallway: the young woman and our Turk.


“Everything’s in order,” she said, handing Sasha the documents. “Have a good flight!”


We ran into the Jetway. Before takeoff I managed to call a friend in London and asked him to find an asylum lawyer to meet us at Heathrow.


“Did you get what’s happened?” Sasha asked.


“Yes, the Turks escorted us to the plane and made sure we got on.”


“They had my false name in their computer. It means that the Americans tipped them off. No one else knew the name,” he concluded.
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For the five days I spent in Turkey I kept expecting fate to materialize in the form of a ferocious Turkish policeman. Instead, fate’s messenger turned out to be a British immigration officer, whose marked politeness did not bode well.


“What you have done,” he said to me, as he looked over Sasha’s false passport, “bears stiff penalties in the United Kingdom. Do you understand that I can arrest you for illegally bringing in asylum seekers?”


I knew that they couldn’t do anything to Sasha, whose new lawyer was waiting for us in arrivals with a copy of a fax sent to the home office; we had communicated with him by phone before presenting ourselves to the border control. As for me, my fate was in the hands of the immigration official. And he apparently did not share my romantic nostalgia for the days of heroic defections from behind the Iron Curtain.


“With due respect, sir,” I said, “there are exceptional circumstances in this case. Mr. Litvinenko and his family were in danger. It was a question of life and death.”


“Russia, as far as I know, has a democratic government,” he parried. “Why didn’t you take him to your own country? Your embassy refused to accept him and you decided to solve your problem at our expense, isn’t that so? Were you paid by Litvinenko for this?”


“No, I did it out of humanitarian concern, knowing the British tradition of giving asylum to fugitives from tyranny.”


“Out of humanitarian concern, I will not arrest you, but I am banning you from entry into the United Kingdom. We are releasing Litvinenko into his solicitor’s custody, and you are taking the first flight back to Turkey.”


He stamped my passport with the border control imprint, then crossed it out with relish and added a notation.


“But I don’t need to go to Turkey,” I protested. “I need to go to New York.”


“You’re being deported to Turkey! And a new passport won’t help,” he said, guessing my thought. “I’m entering you in the computer as a smuggler of asylum seekers. You’ll have to apply to our embassy for advance clearance in case you want to come here. And I doubt that you will get it.”


Sasha and Marina stared at me in disbelief when I explained what was happening. I had to use all my powers of persuasion to calm them: notwithstanding the official’s apparent fury, I said, they were perfectly safe now. They were on British soil and they had nothing to fear.


The immigration official kept his word. From the British computer, his notation traveled into the American network and apparently will linger there forever. Even though the Brits removed the ban a few months later, I am still stopped occasionally by U.S. Border Control and asked to explain what happened in Heathrow on November 1, 2000. But that night, I could not care less about getting a permanent stain on my electronic reputation; it was well worth the satisfaction of seeing Sasha, Marina, and Tolik being led away by two solemn policemen into the safety of a brightly lit terminal.
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When I got back to the States, I spent a long time trying to find out what had occurred during those few hours that the CIA had reversed their decision. None of my contacts wanted to even hear about it. “Be grateful that it all turned out fine and don’t stir up trouble,” everyone said. Finally, a retired spy, a veteran of the cold war who understood these things, told me what had likely happened.


“In this kind of situation, speed is of the essence,” he said. “As soon as it becomes known that someone is about to cross to the other side, all the formal and informal channels turn on: ‘We know our man is in Turkey, and we know that he is going over to you. If you take him, then we will step on your tail somewhere else, we’ll expel somebody, we’ll do this or that to you, so don’t even think of taking him.’ Then the Americans will start wondering whether this guy is worth the trouble. It’s one thing when a defection occurs quietly and it becomes known much later, or never. A person disappears, and that’s it. It’s another thing when the bargaining begins. When you left for Istanbul, you lost time. In those few hours, the Russians figured out what the Americans were up to and blocked the transfer. That morning, you still had a chance, but by afternoon, Moscow pulled the strings and it was too late.”


“So who do you think were watching us at the hotel, Russians or Americans?”


“Russians, of course. But they wouldn’t have tried to do anything bad there: too complicated and noisy. They would wait it out and eventually get them back from the Turks.”


“And the Turks in the airport?”


“I doubt they were tipped off by Americans. If the Russians spotted you at the embassy, they had enough time to give the Turks his photo. Or maybe his passport was not that good after all. You got really lucky. The Turks apparently decided to let them go so as not to get involved. Next time, move faster.”


For me, there wouldn’t be a next time. For Sasha, on the other hand, not even London would be safe from the long arm of the FSB.








CHAPTER 2 THE STRANGE MAJOR



On the road to Istanbul, October 31, 2000


It was before our airport dramas, probably just during the window of time that changed the CIA’s mind about giving him refuge, that I first began to learn Sasha’s secrets. Our long nighttime drive from Ankara to Istanbul was an eye-opener and my introduction to Sasha’s past.


The woman in the backseat, asleep with her son, had been his only ally in all his travails. Everything he told me in the car—about gangsters and oligarchs, terrorists and politicians—he described as happening either Before Marina, or After Marina. The major reference point in his life was not his birth or graduation, not the day he joined the KGB, not even his flight from Russia. It was the summer day in 1993 when they first met. Whatever happened before was not really interesting to him. Meeting her was a touch of magic that transformed everything into the extraordinary. Marina stayed out of his affairs, and he avoided telling her many things that were dangerous to know. But she was always his polestar.


Before Marina, Sasha’s personal life had been difficult. Born into a short-lived college marriage, from the age of three Sasha was brought up by his paternal grandfather in Nalchik, a small town in the northern Caucasus, while both his parents formed new families in other parts of the country. His grandfather took him to the zoo, and the movies on Sundays. “When I was five, my grandfather brought me to the regional history museum in Nalchik, showed me the banner of the Red Army regiment in which he fought the Nazis, and told me that all our family had defended Russia and I would, too,” Sasha told me. He loved his grandfather, and owed him everything, but as he grew older he needed something more. In his last years at school, he became an avid athlete. He focused on the pentathlon to the point of obsession. His trainers, his teammates, and the thrill of competition became his whole life. Even more than his grandfather, they gave him a secure base, a sense of attachment and commitment that he’d lost when his parents left.


When he turned seventeen, his father, discharged from the army, returned to Nalchik with his new wife and children. They moved in, the grandfather’s house grew overcrowded, and Sasha’s whole routine collapsed. He tried to integrate into his father’s family but could not. He loved them, but he felt sidelined. So he found a way to join the army nearly a year before the usual draft age of eighteen. He was right out of high school, following in his father’s and grandfather’s footsteps.


He took to it immediately. “Military service is somewhat like sport,” he told me in the car, “only it’s not a game anymore: you are part of a real team fighting a common enemy—and on the right side, so you think. When they asked me to join the KGB, it seemed perfectly in line, so I accepted enthusiastically, strange as that may seem to you.”


My own background was just the opposite: I was a secure child with loving parents in Moscow. We considered the KGB to be evil incarnate, and I never did any sports. Being drafted into the army in my youth would have been a catastrophe. “If you don’t study hard, they’ll haul you into the army,” my father, a professor of microbiology, used to say.


I asked Sasha what he had done in Kontora. He caught the tone of suspicion in my question.


“I was a young lieutenant when I joined the KGB,” he said. “Hadn’t seen anything in life except the army, and I thought I was going to be protecting people from harm. That the Agency had a dark past—the Gulag, you know, millions of victims—I didn’t learn until the 1990s, when they started to write about it.”


First Sasha served in the Division of Economic Security, and then in the Anti-Terrorist Center (ATC), always working on the same thing: organized crime, assassinations, kidnappings, and criminal links in the police. His career advanced, and he married his high school sweetheart and had two children. Unfortunately, just like his parents’ brief attempt, it wasn’t a happy marriage.


Sasha was an operative detective, an “oper” in the trade lingo. He kept secret files on mobsters, studying their personal affairs, their networks, their contacts with businessmen and politicians. What Sasha knew—and how he knew it—was rarely revealed in court. Yet to official investigators, his stuff was priceless. He solved crimes before charges were made. He worked behind the scenes. He eavesdropped. He recruited and ran agents.


“‘KGB agent’ sounds horrible to people. They think of snitches reporting on their friends or spies in America,” Sasha continued. “But that’s not true. And not fair. Most of our agents are undercover, working inside gangs, and they are real heroes. They know that if they’re blown, they are as good as dead. My agents were my best friends, and they kept dealing with me and they helped my family when I was imprisoned. So there are agents and agents.


“Do you understand the difference between an oper and a formal investigator?” He was getting excited as he explained the intelligence business to me. Scenes from his career flew past. He did what he loved and apparently did it well. “The investigator follows the tracks of the crime. In his book, there are victims, suspects, witnesses, and so on. And he collects evidence, legally processed and packaged. But an oper like myself deals with a would-be criminal, my operational ‘object,’ and I want to know everything about him before he even commits a crime so that he can be stopped in time, or at least more easily caught. My stuff is not ‘evidence,’ it’s ‘operative information,’ see?”


Most of the people who fell under his purview—murderers, bank robbers, kidnappers, drug dealers—were not pleasant folk, and he had no regrets about his work. There was one exception, though: at one point his object became the human rights activist Sergei Grigoryants, whom I also knew. It was his only political case prior to 1997, when he was told to target Boris Berezovsky.


It was during the first Chechen War. The famous “Fifth Line,” the Fifth Chief Directorate of the KGB that had dealt with dissidents in the Soviet era, was long gone. People like Grigoryants ended up under the eye of the ATC, an example of how the war pushed Russia back into the old ways of the USSR.


Grigoryants was investigating reports of a massacre of civilians by federal troops in the Chechen village of Samashki on April 12, 1995. Toward the end of that year, he was supposed to travel abroad for a human rights conference. He was bringing videotaped evidence of Russian troops shooting civilians in Samashki. Sasha’s unit was brought in for an unusual assignment: to plant some shotgun shells in Grigoryants’s companion’s bag at Moscow International Airport so that they would be stopped for a search. During the phony search, his videotapes would be confiscated and “accidentally” damaged.


“That’s the only case I’m ashamed of,” Sasha said.


“I hereby accept your repentance and forgive your sins. Amen,” I joked. “By the way, if you were twenty years older, I could have been one of your objects.”


I told him how, in the 1970s in Moscow, under the vigilant eye of the KGB, I passed information about political prisoners to Western correspondents. Sasha explained to me the nitty-gritty of how an oper would have kept tabs on me. The lecture would have been immensely useful twenty years ago, and was still amusing today. Notwithstanding different backgrounds, we had a lot in common.
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Marina met Sasha on her thirty-first birthday, June 15, 1993. She had been divorced for four years, a free and self-confident woman, enjoying life, not seeking a serious relationship. She lived in her old room in an apartment with her parents, retired industrial engineers, in a huge residential complex just south of the center of Moscow. She had never met anyone from the “services” before. When her best friend, Lena, told her that she and her husband wanted to bring an agent along to her birthday party, Marina’s eyes popped: “That’s some strange present you have for me.”


“He’s not like a secret agent at all,” Lena protested. “He’s funny. He has a great sense of humor, you’ll like him. Besides, he saved us.” She explained how Sasha was helping her husband fight off racketeers who were extorting money from his business.


“All right, then, bring your KGB man,” Marina said.


Sasha’s interest in Marina was already piqued because Lena had told him that she was a dancer. In his line of work he met all kinds of people, but never women who danced for a living. Marina took up dancing while still in college, where she was studying oil engineering. After graduation she decided that the oil business was not for her and went into ballroom dancing full-time, even winning some competitions. By 1993, she was teaching dance and aerobics.


That night the guests stayed late. They talked about the final resolution of Lena’s husband’s problem, planning for Sasha to arrest the extortionists as money changed hands. Marina, who had loved crime stories from childhood, could not believe her eyes: could this fellow, “light somehow, radiant, and as emotional as a child,” really handle the bandits who had recently beaten Lena’s husband and threatened to break his legs if he did not pay up?


To Marina, despite his cheery confidence, Sasha seemed “uncared for, unanchored somehow.” When the subject of divorce happened to come up, Sasha said that he was married and would never divorce because of the children. Marina had a rule against dating married men, yet the way he said it made her feel that not all was well in his family.


She saw him again in a week. Sasha was leaving on vacation after successfully arresting the gang who had terrorized her friends, and Lena called her to join them for a farewell party at the train station. To her surprise, Sasha was alone, no wife or children around.


“His wife kicked him out. Because of us,” Lena whispered into her ear. “They were supposed to go away last week, but he stayed on to finish our case. So she made a scene, and when he came home that evening, all his things were piled up outside the door. He hasn’t been home in a week. And this isn’t the first time. If not for the kids, he would have left her ages ago.”


“Well, so long, see you again,” Sasha called from the window as his train departed.


Lena gave her a sly look. “Just remember that you can only be serious with this guy. He’s incapable of quick affairs. So don’t even think about it.”


“I wasn’t even considering it,” Marina said.


Sasha showed up again about three weeks later. He had asked his wife, Natasha, for a divorce.


Slowly and shyly, he began courting Marina. “Suddenly he would show up at my door with flowers, then vanish for a few days, only to unexpectedly call and invite me to the movies.” She wasn’t sure why she put up with it, but she was as hesitant to reject as to encourage him. He too was in no hurry to rush the situation.


“Sasha knew how to wait, but he never gave up on what he wanted.”


Once, when he asked her for a date, she told him she had already made plans with a girlfriend to go to a concert. Just before the intermission, when the applause had died out, she felt a light tap on her shoulder: Sasha sat right behind her, smiling, with a plastic bag full of bananas in his hands.


“I must go away for a while, so I wanted to leave you with a supply,” he explained. On their first date, she had told him that she loved bananas.


Sasha had been transferred to the Anti-Terrorist Center and this was his first trip for the new job. With his boss, he was heading to the North Caucasus republic of Adygeya to hunt a major gangster, the local mob king, whose gang was responsible for several killings and kidnappings in Moscow.


“After the concert, he walked me home and said that he did not want to go. I knew that he meant because of me, and that made me feel good. I didn’t want him to go either. Gradually I grew accustomed to him being around. He exuded reliability and comfort. I may not have been looking for that, but when he left, I realized that I missed him.”


Sasha called from the airport when he got back. He spent that night at her place and never left. It was early August. Her parents were at their country dacha. Sasha and Marina had the apartment all to themselves. When her parents came back, he said that he would move into an apartment owned by the FSB, but Marina’s mother insisted that he move in with them; she “had accepted him as a son from the start.”


“When I think about why we were so happy, it’s because we could be ourselves. No need to pretend, to worry about being attractive, there was nothing to conquer and nothing to prove. That was obvious to us from the first day, and it was so natural. Neither of us had ever thought this was possible, and we were amazed by it to our last day together.”
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In October, Marina announced that she was pregnant. It was one more miracle from Sasha: this was her very first pregnancy, after a previous marriage and medical advice that she needed fertility treatment. Sasha was thrilled by the news. “Now I can be sure that you won’t leave me,” he said.


“Usually you hear that kind of reasoning from women,” Marina retorted, with a smile.


As she later explained, “The traditional roles in our family were often reversed: he allowed me to be the boss in most things, perhaps as compensation for his overly ‘masculine’ work.”


But she could always sense that he had another side of him, very hard, which he tried not to show her and which, she said, “turned on in extraordinary situations, like the auxiliary shift in a four-wheel drive.” He would leave to her all decisions about their apartment renovation, yet when he planned their escape from Russia, she did not have a hint of what was going on until the very last moment; he took it all upon himself, and when he finally told her about it there was no point in arguing, and no time to try.


The first time she saw the other side of him was when she went to a driving school not long after he had moved in. As the classes came to an end, the instructor announced that those who did not want to bother taking the actual driving test could bring in $200 and give it to him “for the cops,” and then drop by the school to pick up their license soon thereafter. Marina was a pretty good driver and she decided to take the test. The traffic patrolman flunked her deliberately. He made it clear that she should pay up, or flunk continuously. As he put it, “The next test is in a week, lady. Now, it seems, we’ll be driving around once a week.”


In a panic, Marina ran to the school. The instructor, shaking his head sadly, said, “You’re not in the group anymore, so it will be $300 now.”


Sasha was infuriated. “Do you really think that I fight corruption day and night for you to pay bribes to those cops?”


He went with her to the next test, called the traffic patrolman aside, said a few quiet words to him, flashed his FSB card, and gave him a look that Marina had never seen before. The cop blanched and couldn’t think of anything better than to offer to pass her without even bothering with the test. Sasha grew even angrier, snapping, “I’ll stay in the car and we’ll test her together. If she passes, she passes, if she doesn’t, she’ll be back.”


After the test, Sasha instantly switched back to his normal, easy-going, boyish self, smiling and slapping the patrolman on the back. Marina never forgot that look. She was not afraid of it; she was glad to have it at her disposal, “just in case.”


They were married in October 1994 at a registrar’s office, when their son Tolik was already four months old. They had not wanted to make a big deal about it; after all, it was a second marriage for both. Besides, they thought, marriages are made in heaven and certainly not in gloomy bureaucratic settings. But when they went inside wearing their usual blue jeans, the registrar said, “You have a son, and when he grows up he’ll want to see a photograph of your wedding. Think about how you want to look in it.”


“Sasha had only one suit—light-colored. He went home to get it and he gave me some money to buy a dress, but of course I couldn’t find a thing for that money. So even in our wedding we traded roles: the groom wore white and the bride was in black, the only formal suit I had.”


Shortly afterward she met his colleagues. At first they seemed like nice guys, but she noticed that Sasha stood out somehow.


“It was three things. First, he didn’t drink, while they couldn’t relax any other way. Second, it was money. Sasha did not know how to handle money. I mean, we always had enough, but we did not live luxuriously. We finally did buy an apartment, but it was small, just a one-bedroom. Our car was an ordinary Zhiguli. When his friends began driving foreign cars and buying fancy apartments, it became obvious that Sasha did not know how to do what they were doing: make money.”


Sasha explained to her that the money came from taking outside jobs, “selling enforcement services on the market,” as he called it. At the time, the police and the FSB were permitted to take outside “consulting” contracts to compensate for the government’s inability to pay decent salaries. “I’m no good at that,” he explained.


Third, he was hesitant to use the power that came with the FSB badge. That little red card could open any door, in stores, at the theater, wherever, because people were still terrified of the KGB. But except for her driving test, he never used it. His pals mocked him. Yet “he didn’t disapprove of them, at least not then. They were a good band. He was a team player.”


At least, at first.
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To hear him tell it, Sasha was a team player who didn’t always pass the ball. He began to wonder about some of his teammates within the first years of his new life with Marina. And he met the man who would eventually win his loyalty away from his team and his entire agency.


“When I first met Berezovsky, our service was no longer the KGB but not yet called the FSB. It was the FSK, the Federal Counterintelligence Service. This was the most decent period in our history: the repressions were over and corruption was only beginning. I was a major in the service, assigned to our antiterrorism and organized crime division. On that day there was an assassination attempt on Boris. He was already a big shot. The director sent a memo to all divisions: anyone with any information should investigate. I decided to talk to Boris, since I had some thoughts on who could have done it.”


I remembered the attack on Berezovsky very well; it was the first time I had heard his name. A photo of a bombed car had appeared on the front page of The New York Times.


A remote-controlled bomb placed in a parked blue Opel exploded at 5:20 p.m. on June 7, 1994, as Berezovsky’s gray Mercedes pulled out of the gates of The Club, his company’s reception house in downtown Moscow. His driver was killed instantly, but somehow, miraculously, Berezovsky and his bodyguard suffered only minor burns. The blast blew out windows in an eight-story house across the street and wounded six pedestrians. It was one of the first big contract hits in the era of privatization. In those days commercial disputes and business conflicts were usually settled with the help of gangsters rather than in the courts. Law enforcement, like the other branches of government, stood helpless, shell-shocked by Russia’s economic reforms.


“We never found out who was behind that attack,” Sasha said, “but it definitely had to do with the auto business, since Boris wasn’t doing much else in 1994—he sold Zhiguli and Mercedes automobiles.” Boris was running the country’s first capitalist car dealership, LogoVAZ (a name derived from logic in honor of his former life as a mathematician and the acronym VAZ for the Volga Automobile Factory). He founded LogoVAZ in 1989 and had not yet begun to branch out into the media, airlines, and oil industries. Sasha’s original theory was that the hit was related to a turf war; at the time, LogoVAZ was buying up showrooms all over the city, which had been controlled by racketeers from a gang known as Solntsevo. But Sasha later came to believe that it was someone from VAZ, the producers of Zhigulis, one of the colossal state enterprises under the Soviets that produced about half of all cars driven in Russia. It was terribly bloated and inefficient, and Boris was trying to take that company private.


“He had a financial person, Nikolai Glushkov, who was doing due diligence on VAZ,” Sasha explained. “Glushkov was poking into the management’s ties with intermediary firms. So someone at VAZ put out a contract on Boris.”


Sasha described the classic conflict of Russian privatization. Investors would invariably discover that profits were skimmed by third-party sales companies and that the core enterprise had been running at a loss, kept afloat by government subsidies. As a rule, the sales companies were owned by the enterprise director or his family or friends, usually all Soviet holdovers. In effect, they were bilking the state they represented. Privatization meant the end of this shell game, and their prosperity, as it broke up the sales structures.


“The VAZ contract on Boris was to be carried out by the Kurgans, not the Solntsevo guys,” Sasha explained. These were two of the most famous organized crime groups in those days. “The Kurgans did not have their own business and specialized in contract killings. They’d knock off anyone. They had their own people in the Moscow police and even in the Agency.”


When Sasha went to see Boris to talk through all this, they exchanged telephone numbers and agreed to stay in touch. In the ensuing months, they saw each other a few times, but the investigation did not go far: the Chechen War began in December, and it became a priority for the FSB. Ordinary crimes, including mob hits, took a backseat.
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December 10, 1994: Three Russian divisions invade Chechnya, a mountainous, predominantly Muslim province in southern Russia. Grozny, the Chechen capital, is surrounded. Separatist president Dzhokhar Dudayev’s regime is under siege. The Russian divisions are met with massive resistance and suffer severe losses—nearly two thousand dead—during a botched attempt to take Grozny on New Year’s Eve.
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By late 1994, Boris Berezovsky all but abandoned his automobile business—which did extremely well without his attention—and turned to a new endeavor, the mass media, which was intimately tied to the precarious world of Russian electoral politics.


Russia’s market reforms were in their third year. Coming to power in 1991 when he engineered the dissolution of the USSR, Boris Yeltsin undertook reforms harshly and decisively: he did away with state price controls, dropped customs barriers, and embarked on a crash privatization program. In four years of “shock therapy” his chief adviser, Anatoly Chubais, the thirty-eight-year-old boy wonder of Russian economics, did the impossible: he auctioned off and privatized tens of thousands of enterprises, moved more than half the workforce into the private sector, and somehow kept the economy from sliding into uncontrolled inflation.


Yet these successes cost ordinary Russians dearly. The lack of purchasing power in the impoverished population and the reduction of state subsidies brought entire branches of the economy to a halt, primarily in the military-industrial complex and also among producers of consumer goods, who could not stand the competition from Western manufacturers who were flooding the country with everything that ordinary Russians had lacked, and craved, for so long. Western clothing, cars, and electronics were in great demand by anyone who could afford them.


Unfortunately, fewer and fewer had the money to buy them. Millions fell below the poverty line. Civil servants—teachers, doctors, officials, police—were not paid for months at a time. Taxes were not collected, since the tax service was still being created (there had been no taxes in the Soviet system). The intelligentsia in the universities and science labs lost faith in democracy. Crime rose. The army grumbled. Capitalism and the market lost their appeal. More and more Russians thought nostalgically about the good old days of the USSR.


On the other hand, freedom flourished. After seventy years of Communist dictatorship, journalists could write what they wanted, there were no more political prisoners, anyone could get a passport to travel abroad, voters could pick among a dozen political parties, and eighty-six regions and ethnic republics of the Russian Federation gained self-rule and could go about their business without interference from the Kremlin.


Yeltsin’s main dilemma throughout his entire administration was just how far he was willing to violate democracy in order to save it. In fall 1993, the Supreme Soviet—the parliament, which was still full of ex-Soviet apparatchiks—had blocked his reforms and called on federal regions to rebel. Yeltsin disbanded the legislature and sent tanks to smoke out the deputies who barricaded themselves inside; 140 died in the melee. It was a tough choice, but the alternative had seemed worse: total economic collapse and political implosion.


The Communists did not quit. As Yeltsin’s presidential term continued, he was opposed once again by a newly elected hostile parliament, the Duma, where the tone was set by Communists as well as the neo-fascist party of Vladimir Zhirinovsky, who openly advocated an authoritarian model of government. There was every reason to expect the coming presidential election to be a catastrophe: Gennady Zyuganov, the Communist candidate, was polling in the 30 percent range as Yeltsin’s numbers plunged into single digits by the onset of the Chechen War.


Berezovsky had gained entrée into the Kremlin inner circle just a few months previously. He was forty-six years old. The journalist Valentin Yumashev, who had ghost-written the president’s memoirs and subsequently married Yeltsin’s daughter Tatyana, introduced Berezovsky to two of Yeltsin’s entourage: his chief of staff, Viktor Ilyushin, a liberal, and Gen. Alexander Korzhakov, the chief of Kremlin security, called the Federal Service of Okhrana (FSO), the agency that supplied bodyguards to federal bureaucrats. Korzhakov’s power, however, reached far beyond security; he was the de facto representative of all the secret services and the intelligence community in the Kremlin.


The pressing concern among all of Yeltsin’s people was the presidential election in 1996. With every passing week Yeltsin’s chances of winning a second term seemed worse.


After reviewing the situation, Boris Berezovsky came up with a fresh idea: use the senescent Soviet television—Channel One, broadcasting to 200 million people across ten time zones—to work for Yeltsin’s reelection campaign. Thus was born ORT; the initials in Russian stand for Russian Public Television, a.k.a. Berezovsky’s channel.


Before Boris, Channel One used to be Ostankino TV, a mosaic of studios and programs that the Duma Communists were trying to get their hands on, insisting that state TV should be subordinate to the legislative branch. At the time, the only private—and the best managed—network in the country was NTV, owned by Vladimir Gusinsky, which held roughly 15 percent of market share. But it was clear that whoever controlled Channel One would have access to the majority of Russia’s viewers. Berezovsky convinced Ilyushin and Korzhakov that he was the man who could control the airwaves for the benefit of the reforms and the president.


But it was easier said than done. Ostankino was a colossal, clumsy structure, overgrown with innumerable useless auxiliary services and subdivisions, with a swollen staff and an astronomical deficit of $170 million a year. Advertising revenues were less than a fifth of that.


Ostankino was a black hole in the government’s budget, a structure that simply could not be salvaged. It would be easier to shut it down and start from scratch. This was just what Berezovsky proposed to Yeltsin’s advisers: to grant the license for Channel One to a new joint-stock company, in which 51 percent would belong to the state and 49 percent to private funders, controlled by Berezovsky, who would build a management structure that would run the network at a profit, or at least reduce losses to a manageable level.


The presidential decree dismantling Ostankino and creating ORT in its place in early December 1994 went almost unnoticed, as all eyes were then on the nascent conflict with the Chechen separatists. But three months later ORT dramatically announced its presence by calling a moratorium on advertising.


Berezovsky’s goal was to cut all ties between the Ostankino studios and the shadow structures that sold advertising time. Sasha’s description of the dilemma of privatization held true: the network lost hundreds of millions, while major graft was outsourced to third-party organizations that did its selling. Even by modest estimates advertisers paid five times as much as the network actually received from them. Most of the money was handed over in envelopes full of cash, and it remained in the pockets of producers, middlemen, and gangsters. The intention of Boris’s new management was to use a hiatus of a few months to build an in-house sales department, cutting out all the middlemen.


The moratorium was announced on February 20, 1995. On March 1, Vlad Listyev, ORT’s new director general, was gunned down by an assassin at the door of his Moscow home. Listyev was Russia’s Larry King, its most popular TV host, the darling of the country. In mourning, every television station in the nation went off the air for twenty-four hours. The entire country was in shock.


[image: image]


The morning after the murder, an emergency meeting was convened in the office of the deputy director of the FSB. Sasha, a major, was the lowest-ranking officer in the room. He told the assembled generals that he believed Listyev’s murder and the attempt on Berezovsky eight months earlier were the work of the same group, the Kurgan gang, which had penetrated Moscow’s police department.


“Suddenly, I got a message on my pager from Berezovsky,” Sasha told me, staring into the foggy Turkish night. “‘Call immediately.’ I notified Trofimov and he said, ‘Go call him.’”


“Who is Trofimov?”


Sasha looked at me as if I were a schoolboy. “Gen. Anatoly Trofimov, chief of the Moscow regional FSB. He was close to Korzhakov and was thought to have a direct line to the Kremlin. Well, I called Boris and he said that they’d come to arrest him. ‘Who?’ I asked. He said, ‘Moscow police,’ and he named some names. I ran back to the office and said, ‘The very people I was talking about have come for him: the Kurgan connection in the police.’ Trofimov ordered me to go there immediately and clear things up.”


It’s a stone’s throw from the Lubyanka HQ to The LogoVAZ Club. There Sasha discovered eight armed policemen who told him that they were ordered to deliver Berezovsky to the station to be questioned in the murder of Listyev. A camera crew from NTV was setting up in front of the entrance; someone had tipped them off that Berezovsky was going to be arrested.


“I knew that he could not be allowed to be taken away by these cops, because by morning there would be a report that he’d had a heart attack or was killed trying to escape, and you wouldn’t be able to prove anything,” Sasha continued. “I pulled out my service gun and FSB ID and yelled, ‘Move along! This is our investigation and we’ll question him ourselves.’ ‘We have our orders,’ they snapped back. After some arguing they called their bosses, and I called mine. Trofimov said, ‘Don’t give him up under any circumstances. I’m sending reinforcements. How many are there?’”


Fifteen minutes later twenty of Trofimov’s men arrived with their guns. The incident ended when an official police investigator showed up and took a statement from Berezovsky, with Sasha standing guard by his side.


At the time, I had heard that the standoff at LogoVAZ was part of ongoing hostilities between the Moscow city government and the Kremlin. Tensions were running high, almost to the point of violence. Mayor Yuri Luzhkov, a powerful city boss, fought with First Deputy Prime Minister Anatoly Chubais over the privatization of city property. The city police naturally worked on behalf of City Hall, and the FSB for the Kremlin.


“I heard that the confrontation at LogoVAZ was part of politics—City Hall versus the Kremlin—and that the mayor tried to use the murder of Listyev as an excuse to get rid of Boris. Isn’t that so? What did the Kurgan gang have to do with it?” I asked.


“It might be,” Sasha replied. “I didn’t understand politics at all then. I’m an oper, and I followed the evidence, not the politics. But Listyev was not murdered by the mayor. And the mayor was not the one who tried to blow up Boris in ’94. So you can’t get away from the mob. And the cops are much closer to the mob than they are to their own higher-ups, believe me. I knew for sure that the cops who had come for Boris in ’95 were up to no good. But you are right: many thought at the time that it was the mayor versus the Kremlin.”
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